
Finance Committee  
June 7, 2023 | 4:00 p.m. – 5:30 p.m. 

 
 

  
Onsite: 

Greater Portland Transit District 
 114 Valley Street, Conference Room A | Portland, ME 04102 

 
Remote: 

Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82012466836?pwd=dHN0Wk9VeXF6YzdOVExXakI3RGFyZz09      

Passcode: 453799| Webinar ID: 820 1246 6836 
    Phone: (646) 558-8656| Telephone participants: *9 to raise hand, *6 to unmute 

 
MEETING AGENDA 

 

AGENDA ITEM PRESENTER ACTION or 
INFORMATION 

1. Call Meeting to Order (4:00) Paul Bradbury, 
Committee Chair 

N/A 

2. Public Comment (4:00-4:05) 
The Finance Committee welcomes public comment. For items 
NOT listed on this agenda, the chair will recognize speakers at 
this point on the agenda. For items on the agenda, the chair 
will recognize public comment following the staff 
presentation. There is a 3-minute time limit per speaker. 

Paul Bradbury, 
Committee Chair 

Information 

3. Approval of Meeting Minutes (4:05-4:10) 
The committee will be asked to approve minutes from the 
May 3, 2023 meeting of the Finance Committee. 

Paul Bradbury, 
Committee Chair 

ACTION 

4. 2022 Five Year Forecast (4:10-4:40) 
Staff will present the 2023 Five Year Forecast. 

Shelly Brooks, 
Finance Director 

Information 

5. Follow-Up: Advertising Revenue Review (4:40-4:55) 
Staff will provide a a follow up on the Committee’s questions 
from the May 3 meeting on Advertising revenue/contracts. 

Shelly Brooks, 
Finance Director 

Information 

6. ARPA Funding for Service Improvements (4:55-5:15) 
Staff will present a request for authorization to implement 
ARPA funded service improvements for partial year 2023. 

Greg Jordan, 
Executive Director 

ACTION 

7. Future Agenda Items (5:15-5:25) 
Committee members may request future agenda items.   
• Review board policies pertaining to procurement (TBD) 
• Comprehensive review of board policies (TBD) 

Paul Bradbury, 
Committee Chair 

Information 

  

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82012466836?pwd=dHN0Wk9VeXF6YzdOVExXakI3RGFyZz09


 
 

2 
 

• Reassess cost/rev. allocation policies (TBD) 
• Federal Grant Awards/Activity (TBD) 
• Long Range Financial Forecasting (Ongoing) 
• Transit Asset Management Plan (TBD) 
• State Funding- baseline and recurring (Ongoing) 

7.  Upcoming Meetings (5:25-5:30) 
• Executive Committee – June 14, 2023 at 3:30 p.m. 
• Ridership Committee – June 14, 2023 at 4:00 p.m. 
• Board of Directors – June 22, 2023 at 4:00 p.m. 
• Finance Committee – TBD 

Paul Bradbury, 
Committee Chair 

Information 

8. Adjournment (5:30) Paul Bradbury, 
Committee Chair 

ACTION 

 
As of November 9, 2022 Greater Portland METRO is holding meetings of the Board of Directors (and its 
committees) in hybrid format, both in person at METRO’s offices and via webinar. The remote portions of all 
meetings are conducted in accordance with the requirements of METRO’s Remote Participation Policy (adopted 
August 25, 2022) as well as LD 1772, PL 2022 Ch. 666, and 1 MRSA Chapter 13, Subchapter 1. 
 
 

https://gpmetro.org/DocumentCenter/View/1424


 

1 
  

 
 

Finance Committee Meeting 
May 3, 2023 at 4:00 p.m. 
DRAFT Meeting Minutes 

 
Municipality Representative Title Attendance 
Portland Paul Bradbury Treasurer and Committee Chair  
Yarmouth Nat Tupper Member  
Brunswick Ryan Leighton Member  
Portland Jeff Levine Member  
    
   
Other Board Members Present   
Freeport Bill Rixon Member  
    
    

 
Staff & Others Present Members of the Public 
Greg Jordan, Executive Director (late arrival)  
Shelly Brooks, Chief Financial Officer  
Debbie Fitzpatrick, Accounting Manager  
Joshua Crooker, IT Manager  
Mike Tremblay, Director of Transit Development  
Casey Leonard, Runyon, Kersteen, Ouellette 
(RKO) 

 

 
Attendance roll call taken by Shelly Brooks, Chief Financial Officer. 
 
1. With a quorum in place, the meeting was called to order at 4:00 p.m. by Paul Bradbury, Committee 

Chair.  
 
2. Public comment:  No members of the public were present. 
 
3. Approval of October 5, 2022 and February 15, 2023 Meeting Minutes 

Jeff Levine moved, seconded by Nat Tupper, to approve the meeting minutes of the October 5, 2022 
and February 15, 2023 meetings of the Finance Committee as presented. A roll call vote was taken by 
Shelly Brooks, Chief Finance Officer. The motion passed unanimously by all those present. 

 
4. Election of Vice Chair 

Paul Bradbury nominated Ryan Leighton to fill the vacancy for Finance Committee Vice Chair.  Brief 
discussion ensued regarding future meeting dates to fit members’ schedules.  Nat Tupper moved, 
seconded by Jeff Levine, to elect Ryan Leighton as the Finance Committee Vice Chair for 2023.  A roll 
call vote was taken by Shelly Brooks, Chief Finance Officer. The motion passed unanimously by all 
those present. 
  

 

 



 

2 
  

 
5. 2022 Audit 

A summary of the 2022 Financial Statement Audit follows, as presented by Casey Leonard from RKO: 
• Financial Statement – Unmodified/clean Opinion 
• Report required by Government Auditing Standards (GAS) - yellow book audit 

o No material weaknesses; No significant deficiencies; Clean opinion 
• Report required by the Uniform Guidance 

o Programs tested: Federal Transit cluster 
o Findings:  None 

• Report required by the Maine Uniform Accounting and Auditing Practices for Community 
Agencies 

o Program tested: Transportation Systems Planning 
o Finding:  No findings 
 

Net Position FY 2019-2022 (increased by $2.2MM in 2022): 
o Net investment in capital assets - $14.1MM 
o Restricted assets - $563K 
o Unrestricted assets/board policy - $1.1MM 
o Unrestricted/unreserved - $584K  
o The Fund balance is at 6.7%.  
 

• Revenues:  $32K <budget:  over-budget fares, under-budget federal assistance, and over-budget 
miscellaneous income. 

• Expenditures:  $216K <budget due to staffing vacancies, and lower than anticipated costs in fleet 
parts and services, advertising, and maintenance costs. 

• Revenue distribution FY 2019-2022:  fare revenue has continued to rise, requiring slightly less 
municipal contributions and federal/state grants. 

• Expense distribution: utilities and telephone declined due to new lease accounting, with many 
other categories in-line with the previous year.  

 
Jeff Levine moved, seconded by Nat Tupper, to accept the 2022 Financial Statement Audit as 
presented, and to move it forward to the Board of Directors for action. A roll call vote was taken by 
Shelly Brooks, Chief Finance Officer. The motion passed unanimously by all those present. 
 

6. 2023 Budget to Actual Update 
Shelly Brooks, Chief Financial Officer presented an update on Budget to Actual results for 2023 
through March 31. 
 

Revenues: 
• Passenger fares are at 21.7%.  With the March fare promotion in effect, further growth will 

slow. 
• Most other funding sources are not due or available as of March 2023, causing below 

budget results. 
 
Expenses: 
• At 25% of the budget at the end of first quarter. 



 

3 
  

o Overtime tracking high due to staffing shortages for absences and vacancies. 
o Audit, technology, software, maintenance, insurance, and some benefits are over 

budget, mostly due to timing of payments. 
o Fuel, fluids and tires overall are within budgeted range. Greases and Fluids appear 

high, due to an encumbrance for the annual DEF purchase. 
o Utilities are slightly higher than budget, primarily due to heating costs. As we 

enter warmer months, expenditure growth here should slow. 
• Total services and fees at 39.4% of budget 

 
7. 2022 Advertising Revenue Review 

Shelly Brooks and Greg Jordan provided committee members with an overview of 2022 advertising 
revenue results in comparison to budget, including specific detail on top advertising contracts by type.  
Additional discussion ensued on recent changes to bus wrapping, branding, business contract 
limitations, and sustainability of existing contracts in comparison to previous years.  Committee 
members recommended thoughtfulness in preparing future advertising revenue budgets and asked 
for additional comparative data on other similar-sized transit agency advertising revenues to be 
presented at a future meeting. 

 
8. Future Agenda Items 

 
Committee members may request future agenda items. 
 

• Review board policies pertaining to procurement (TBD) 
• Comprehensive review of board policies (TBD) 
• Reassess cost/rev. allocation policies (TBD) 
• Federal Grant Awards/Activity (TBD) 
• Long Range Financial Forecasting (Ongoing) 

o Amended budget to include ARPA funding (June 2023) 
o Sustainable budget (June 2023) 

• State Funding – baseline and recurring (TBD) 
• Transit Asset Management Plan (TBD) 

 
9. Upcoming meetings 

These are upcoming meetings as presently scheduled: 
 
• Executive Committee – May 10, 2023 at 3:30 p.m. 
• Ridership Committee – TBD 
• Board of Directors – May 25, 2023 at 4:00 p.m. 
• Finance Committee – June 7, 2023 at 4:00 p.m. 
 

10. Adjournment 
Nat Tupper made a motion to adjourn the meeting. Jeff Levine seconded the motion, at which point, Paul 
Bradbury adjourned the meeting at 4:44 p.m. 



 

FINANCE COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM 4 
 

 

 
DATE  
June 7, 2023 
 
SUBJECT 
Five-Year Financial Forecast 
 
PURPOSE 
Provide updated preliminary information on forecasted expense and revenue trends thru 2028. 
 
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS 
In preparation for the FY 2024 budget process, staff have updated the 5-year financial forecast 
for fiscal years 2024-2028. A detailed forecast with supporting information is provided under 
Attachment A. The chart below illustrates the summary results of the forecast and represents 
conservative assessment of how expenses and revenues may trend over the next 5 years. 
Although additional work is necessary, expenses are expected to out pace revenues by a large 
margin over the next 5 years. The major factors behind this divergence are outlined below: 
 
Figure 1: Five Year Financial Forecast 

 
* Note: FY 2023 is a projection based on the first 4 months of the year, and remains subject to change. 

 



 
 

2 
 

 
Expenses 
Expenses are forecasted to increase by annual average of 4.95% per year between 2024 and 
2028.  The major factors driving the increase are anticipated increases in the cost of labor as well 
as increases in the price of fuel, insurance and supplies and commodities. Costs are rising at a 
faster pace than at any other time in Metro’s recent history due to the ongoing labor market 
shortage and the associated upward pressure on wages as well as the impacts of record inflation.  
 
The forecast assumes Metro maintains consistent service levels at 99,000 revenue hours per 
year. 
 
The forecast also assumes that Metro purchases the property at 151 St. John’s street in 2024 and 
constructs a new facility in 2027. While the acquisition has the effect of removing the lease 
expense associated with the property, there is an increase in debt service in 2024 related to the 
property acquisition, followed by another increase in debt service beginning in 2027 related to 
construction of a replacement facility.  
 
Revenues 
Revenues are forecasted to increase over the 5-year forecast, which has changed since the last 
forecast analysis, mostly due to the anticipated increase in State funding in 2024. However, 
revenues are still growing at a slower pace than growth in expenses through 2028. This results in 
average annual revenue growth of only 1.57% per year.  
 
Fund Balance (Unrestricted) 
Metro’s Unrestricted Fund Balance represents the amount set aside for emergencies, cash flow 
and budget stabilization, and discretionary expenditures subject to Board approval. There is a 
board approved policy to grow the unrestricted fund balance to the point where it equals 16.6% 
of total operating expenditures. Based on current projections for expenses and revenues in 2023, 
which remain subject to change, the unrestricted fund balance is estimated to exceed 7% at year 
end.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
As currently developed, the five-year forecast projects an operating deficit of $885 thousand in 
FY 2024, followed by widening deficits through 2028. A variety of budget balancing measures will 
be needed to bring expenditures and revenues into alignment. Some combination of the 
following measures will be required.  Staff is requesting the committee’s input on these or other 
concepts for balancing the agency’s budgets going forward.  
 

• Reduce costs anticipated in 2024 and refine annual percentage increase assumptions.  

o Evaluate and refine, if reasonable, percentage escalation assumptions. 

o Evaluate all non-service agency programs and functions for efficiencies, deferred 
spending, and/or reductions in scope.  

o Evaluate all contracts for services and products for possible reductions in price, 
scope or cancellation. 



 
 

3 
 

o Evaluate Capital Improvement Program to reduce or resequence annual local 
contributions. 

o Defer facility construction beyond 2027. 

o Reduce bus service revenue hours through either operating efficiencies, reduced 
service levels or some combination of both. 

• Increase revenues and funding anticipated in 2024 and refine annual percentage increase 
assumptions. 

o Continue to promote transit ridership and accelerate efforts to increase the 
number of major employers participating in the Dirigo UMO fare program. 

o Research and identify alternative sources of grant funding. 

o Re-evaluate appropriate mix of revenue generating advertising on Metro’s buses 
and shelters in relation to brand visibility. 

o Subject to availability of funding, request additional FTA 5307 funding for 
operations and/or preventive maintenance. During the forecast period, Metro’s 
current net utilization of 5307 funding for operations is allowed up to 50% under 
FTA regulations. However, while the current PACTS funding model shows deficits 
in 2024 and 2025, and surpluses in 2026-2027.   

o Consider using a portion of the available fund balance for budget balancing in 
future deficit years. 

o Consider additional funding assistance from member municipalities.  

 

RECOMMENDATION 
This item is for information and discussion. 
 
CONTACT 
Shelly Brooks 
Finance Director 
207-423-5052 
sbrooks@gpmetro.org 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A – Five Year Financial Forecast: 2024-2028 

mailto:sbrooks@gpmetro.org


ATTACHMENT A – FIVE YEAR FORECAST 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

FINANCE COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM 5 
 

 

 
DATE  
June 7, 2023 
 
SUBJECT 
Advertising Revenue Review 
 
PURPOSE 
Provide additional information on advertising contracts. 
 
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS 
In an attempt to answer and understand some of the trends displayed in our advertising revenue 
patterns over the past ten years, we reached to our advertising partner, Alternate Transit 
Advertising, Inc. (ATA Outdoor), and they have proposed the following: 
 
METRO is fortunate that Maine does not permit public advertisements displayed as billboards, 
which leaves transit advertising in bus shelters and vehicles as one of the best alternatives for 
companies to reach a broad audience within our service area.   
 
In 2023, there has been an industry shift away from annual advertising contracts and a move 
toward short-term contracts, with 12-week contracts more the current trend.  It is also important 
to note that this is a national trend versus a regional or local trend.  Items currently effecting the 
advertising market are: 
 

• Economic concerns around the debt ceiling, budget deficit and possible recession. 
• Change in company management – new influencers or decision-makers may shift 

marketing dollars to a different mode of advertising. For example, US Cellular, one of 
METRO’s top five advertisers from 2012-2018, had a change in management that resulted 
in a transition to all digital advertising. 

• Change in allowable advertisers - non-profit, credit union, and university advertising were 
phased out in 2020. 

The assumption is that all customers will continue advertising, however this is not reality.  The 
ad market is more fluid than it may appear, causing ups and downs in revenue returns.  As such, 
consider the following: 
 

• A T & T– This contract is managed by a large ad agency and therefore ATA Outdoor has 
no influence over the length of the contract or its outcomes.  The customer drives the 

 



 
 

2 
 

process, having a specific budget and/or campaign.  As a result, when the contract term 
ends, it ends (2022). 

• Law Offices of Joe Bornstein- This is considered a good solid client, that in recent years 
has shifted from TV to local ad campaigns and should be advertising with METRO for a 
few years to come (ATA Outdoor has close contact with media buyer here.). 

• Oxford Casino- was severely impacted by COVID, hence the absence of advertising in 2020 
(no 2023 advertising dollars spent with METRO as well).  ATA is currently in discussions 
with them in the hopes that they may come back by January of 2024. 

Nonetheless, Portland has always had a healthy advertising market, i.e. nice place to live, work, 
recreate, etc.  As a result, METRO continues to have a good pipeline, but no one is signing right 
now.  Some contracts are pushing back 30 days or more.  Our current ad space (on buses) is 
maximized/booked right now.  Ad sales should ramp up again in June for third quarter and in 
August for fourth quarter. 
 
The best approach to projecting ad revenues going forward should be to use conservative 
financial estimates, removing out-liars (low year (COVID) and high year (2022)) and average the 
remaining results. 
 
Based on the information discussed above, Metro staff estimate that advertising revenue for 
2023 will be below the $355k budgeted amount. Staff estimate actual revenue will be 
approximately $260k. However, staff also estimate other revenue sources will be higher than 
budgeted, and will offset this deficit.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
As described. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
This item is for information and discussion. 
 
CONTACT 
Shelly Brooks 
Finance Director 
207-423-5052 
sbrooks@gpmetro.org 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
None 

mailto:sbrooks@gpmetro.org


 

FINANCE COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM 6 
 

 

 
DATE  
June 7, 2023 
 
SUBJECT 
ARPA Funding Budget Authority 
 
PURPOSE 
Authorize staff to expend awarded ARPA funding for Phase I service improvements in August 
2023.  
 
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS 
In March 2022, following a competitive application process, Metro was awarded $4,338,290 in 
American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funding by the Portland Area Comprehensive Transportation 
System (PACTS). Following an extended review process called for by 3 of the 5 of the region’s 
federal Designated Recipients, the “split-letter” to formally allocate the funding was executed in 
December 2022.  Metro’s grant agreement with the Federal Transit Administration was obligated 
on May 26, 2023.  

 
The purpose of the funding is to make a variety of service and capital improvements to the transit 
system with the aim of rebuilding ridership. This type of federal funding can cover 100% of project 
costs and requires no local match.  
 
The ARPA funding is allocated to the following projects: 
 

• Service Improvements (2 years) - $2,818,704 

• Temporary Fare Reduction (7 months) - $494,586 

• Bus Stop Accessibility Improvements - $525,000 

• Transit Signal Priority - $500,000 
 
Table 1 below outlines the service improvements generally included as part of the 2022 ARPA 
grant application and the associated impact on Revenue Hours. Also included in Table 1 are the 
Transit Together recommended service changes. Please note that the Transit Together 
recommendations do not yet have funding attached to them.     
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 

2 
 

Table 1: ARPA and Transit Together Service Improvements 

 
 
The ARPA service improvements were developed and submitted for PACTS consideration in late 
2022. Since that time, the impacts of nationwide inflation and labor shortages have driven costs 
higher. As a result, consideration must be given to how to best advance the planned service 
improvements within the $2.8 million funding award. Staff recommend two strategies to 
optimize use of the funding.  
 

1. Implement the improvements in two phases while also reducing the pilot phase 
timeframe for phase II improvements (Route 7 and Microtransit). 
 

2. Eliminating the addition of service to 4 holidays, eliminating the addition of Sunday Breez 
service, and deferring span of service improvement to Route 8. 

 
Metro staff will be working on strategies to develop the funding needed to implement the 
remaining Transit Together improvements in 2024 or as soon as possible.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Based on the phasing plan, Table 2 provides a 2-3 year forecast horizon during which the ARPA 
funding will be drawn down. At this stage, staff believe this approach allows the service 
improvements to run through 2025. Thereafter, service improvement judged to be successful, 
and which ought to be made permanent, will require long-term sustainable sources (e.g., fare 
revenue, federal support, local support).    
 
Table 2: ARPA Phasing Plan Fiscal Impact 

 



 
 

3 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
Staff is requesting authorization to amend the FY 2023 Operating Budget to allow up to $213,306 
in expenses in order to operate Phase I service improvements (Route 9, Husky Line and Breez). 
These service improvements are planned to commence in late August 2023. Staff will provide 
regular updates to the Finance Committee on expenditures and use of ARPA funding as part of 
regular budget performance updates.   
 
ARPA funding use in FY 2024 and FY 2025 will be authorized in connection with the annual budget 
approval process for those years. 
 
CONTACT 
Greg Jordan 
Executive Director 
207-517-3025 
gjordan@gpmetro.org 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
None 

mailto:gjordan@gpmetro.org

	Finance Committee Agenda_6-7-2023.pdf
	Item 3- Minutes_05-03-2023.pdf
	Item 4 - Forecast- Fiscal Years 2024-2028.pdf
	Item 4- Attachement A - Forecast- Fiscal Years 2024-2028.pdf
	Item 5 - Advertising Revenue Review.pdf
	Item 6 - ARPA Budget Authority.pdf

